
Cabinet 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Cabinet to be held as follows for the 
transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Tuesday, 10 December 2019

TIME: 10.00 am

VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence 

2  Declarations of interest 

3  Minutes of the previous meeting 

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on the 26 November 
2019.

(Pages 1 - 4)

4  GM Waste Levy Allocation Methodology Agreement (LAMA) 

Lead Member for Environment and Community Safety.

(Pages 5 - 30)

5  Any other urgent business 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3318
Karen Berry, Democratic Services Manager E-Mail: karen.berry@salford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



1

CABINET

26 NOVEMBER 2019

Meeting commenced: 10.00 a.m.
“                  finished: 10.20 a.m.

PRESENT

Paula Boshell                     Statutory Deputy City Mayor (in the Chair)
John Merry, CBE                Deputy City Mayor 

LEAD MEMBERS:
David Lancaster, MBE       Environment and Community Safety
Gina Reynolds                   Adult Services, Health and Wellbeing
Derek Antrobus                  Planning and Sustainable Development  
Bill Hinds                            Finance and Support Services
Tracy Kelly                         Housing and Neighbourhoods
Gina Reynolds                   Adult Services, Health and Wellbeing     

EXECUTIVE SUPPORT MEMBERS (AT THE INVITATION OF THE CITY MAYOR):
John Walsh                        Education and Learning
Mike McCusker                  Planning, Housing and Sustainable Development

OFFICERS:
Jim Taylor                         Chief Executive
Charlotte Ramsden           Strategic Director, People
Ben Dolan                         Strategic Director, Place
Debbie Brown                   Director, Service Reform
Miranda Carruthers-Watt  City Solicitor
Sam Betts                         Assistant Director
Peter Brambleby               Interim Director of Public Health
Joanne Hardman              Chief Finance Officer
Jean Gleave                      Chief Internal Auditor
Chris Findley                     Assistant Director
Karen Lucas                      Service Manager

Councillor R Garrido – in attendance for item 3.

1.         APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Paul Dennett (City Mayor), 
Councillors Jones, Hamilton and Coen.

  
         2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



2

         3. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

The minutes of the meeting held on 22 September 2019, were approved as a correct 
record.

4.      ANNUAL REPORT FROM AUDIT AND ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE
 

Councillor R Garrido, Chair of Audit and Accounts Committee provided an overview 
of the 2018/19 Annual report, which included an overview of the achievements of the 
committee. 

Further considerations with regard to member training are being pursued.

Councillor R Garrido acknowledged the committee’s role in scrutinising all areas of 
the council’s work, that the risks which are inevitably present when costs need to be 
reduced and efficiencies made; and that this coming year’s challenges remain very 
much the same.

Councillor R Garrido asked to place on record his appreciation of the support 
received during the year from members of this committee, Audit, Finance and shared 
Legal servicest. Also to Mazars in their first full year for keeping the committee 
informed of all issues.

Councillor Boshell, Statutory Deputy City Mayor acknowledged the work undertaken 
by members of the Audit and Accounts Committee and gave her thanks on behalf of 
Cabinet. 

RESOLVED: THAT, the Statutory Deputy City Mayor in consultation with Cabinet 
considered the attached Annual Report of the Chair of the Audit & Accounts
Committee for the year 2018/19.

5.     ADOPTION OF REVISED PLANNING OBLIGATIONS SUPPLEMENTARY 
       PLANNING  DOCUMENT

Councillor Antrobus, Lead Member for Regeneration and Sustainable Development 
introduced this item, and in doing so explained that in September 2019 the 
government updated planning practice guidance on planning obligations to state that 
introducing new formulaic approaches should not be done through new SPDs; such 
requirements have to instead be set through local plans and independently 
examined as part of this process.

Taking into account comments received at the draft stage and the changes to 
government planning guidance, a minor refresh of the 2015 adopted SPD has 
instead been undertaken that does not involve changing existing formulas or 
introducing new ones, or changing the overall approach.

The key implication of this is that the affordable housing requirements as part of new 
developments have to be capped at a maximum 20% as per the 2015 SPD, as going 

Page 2



3

higher than this would be introducing a new formulaic approach, contrary to 
government guidance. Notwithstanding this however, the proposed approach to 
affordable housing in the refreshed SPD should deliver higher levels of affordable 
housing than that currently being delivered. 

RESOLVED: THAT, the Statutory Deputy City Mayor in consultation with Cabinet 
approved the adoption the refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations Supplementary 
Planning Document.

6. REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (SCI)

Councillor Antrobus, Lead Member for Regeneration and Sustainable Development 
explained that it is proposed given the current focus of resources on the Local Plan 
and Greater Manchester Spatial Framework processes, that the updating of the SCI 
should not commence until the Local Plan has progressed further. In the interim, it is 
proposed that the intentions towards the future updating of the SCI be published on 
the city council’s website.

RESOLVED: THAT, the Statutory City Mayor in consultation with the Cabinet:

1. Noted the Review of the Statement of Community Involvement;

2. Approved the intention to update the SCI, with timescales to be determined once
the Local Plan has progressed further;

3. Noted that the city council’s website will be updated in line with recommendations
i) and ii) as detailed in the report submitted.

         7. ANY OTHER BUSINESS.

         No items submitted.

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Part 1 - Open to the Public ITEM NO.

REPORT OF STRATEGIC DIRECTOR FOR PLACE

TO 

Lead Member for Environment and Community Safety on 11th November 2019 – for 
information

Cabinet Briefing on 26th November 2019 – for information
Cabinet 10th December 2019 – for decision

TITLE: LEVY ALLOCATION METHODOLGY AGREEMENT

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That the contents of this report are noted and that the Levy Allocation Methodology 
Agreement (LAMA) is endorsed by the City Council.  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

This report is to provide an update on the Waste Levy Allocation Methodology 
Agreement and to accept the proposed changes, following change of waste disposal 
contractor.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: Original LAMA document

KEY DECISION: YES 

DETAILS:

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The LAMA is the method by which the costs attached to the Operating 
contract for the acceptance, processing and disposal of residual waste, 
recyclables, pulpables, and green waste amongst other things.

1.2 As a result of the new contract for Suez to act as the waste disposal 
contractor, the opportunity has been taken to review and amend the terms of 
the LAMA. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



2

1.3 The LAMA, which appears in full in Appendix A, requires unanimous approval 
from all of the relevant GM waste collection authorities. 

2. LEVY ALLOCATION METHODOLOGY AGREEMENT (LAMA) FROM 
2020/2021

2.1 The LAMA allocates the fixed and variable costs of the budget by waste 
stream, trade waste, Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) and 
GMCA – Waste and Resources’ own costs. Following the award of the 
contracts to Suez, this now needs to be revised to reflect the new payment 
mechanism arrangements.

2.2 The key changes and reasoning are:

Change Reason
Introduction of new 
waste stream for street 
sweepings

Brining street sweepings into the GM waste 
streams will improve recycling.   

The costs for this element will be separately 
identified within the payment mechanism. 

Based on tonnage and cost projections, there will 
be no financial impact to Salford. 

  
Allocation of costs on 
the basis of an 
Apportionment Model 
which comprises:

Fixed element and 
Variable costs 

Where possible fixed costs are being used, which 
allow levy allocations to be more accurate at year 
end.  

The proposal for residual waste is to adopt a ‘last 
in, first out’ principle whereby the variable cost is 
broadly equated not to the average cost of residual 
processing but to the cost of the processing that 
would be used last.  This is going to be the same as 
the price for Trade Waste.
 
The reference to the ‘first in last out’ principle refers 
to different bands of residual waste going to Bolton 
or Runcorn disposal sites. The first 325,000 tonnes 
that all districts take in to both sites combined are 
charged at a set rate. Any tonnes over or under the 
325,000 tonnes are charged at a higher rate. This 
encourages Waste Collection Authorities to aim for 
accurate tonnage projections 

Page 6



3

Household Waste 
Recycling Centres:

Maintain at 50% Council 
Tax Base and 50% Car 
Ownership (2011 
National Statistics 
census)

The calculation remains the same. The change is 
that the Council Tax base will be from the previous 
year so as to end last minute changes to district 
amounts, when tax base announcements are made 
at the end of January.  

Non-Key Services This element will be removed as there is no specific 
charge within the current payment mechanisms. 

Non key services are material such as tyres, sharps 
and Salford has its own arrangements and there 
will be no financial impact. 

2.3 This agreement has to be approved by all of the relevant GM Waste Collection 
Authorities and will in turn will allow the 2020/21 levy to be set using the new 
LAMA basis. The approval process is:

September/October 2019 District Waste Chief Officers/Treasurer 
Consultation

December 2019 Districts consider LAMA through appropriate 
decision making procedures. 

January 2020 GMCA agree revised LAMA
February 2020 GMCA approve budget and levy for 2020/21 and 

Medium Term Financial Plan to 2023/24.

2.4 The changes have been considered and are supported by the Greater 
Manchester Treasurers were talked through the changes at all District Waste 
Chief Officers GM Treasurers. 

2.5 Failure to agree a local replacement for allocation of the levy to Districts will 
result in the original LAMA mechanism being applied.

3. CONCLUSION

3.1 Following the award of the new waste disposal contract to SUEZ, the 
opportunity has been taken to review the charging mechanism, indicated in 
the LAMA. This change has been endorsed by the Waste Chief Officers and 
GM Treasurers and is recommended for approval by the City Council.   

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Environment sustainability

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: Not applicable

Page 7



4

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: The Levy Allocation Methodology Agreement (LAMA) is 
intended to reflect an expected increase in levels of recycling performance and 
diversion from landfill, failure to do this has a negative financial and environmental 
impact, so it is essential we continue to drive up recycling and drive down 
contamination levels and waste to landfill.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Tony Hatton, Principal Solicitor, tel. 219 6323

The City Council, as a Waste Collection Authority (together with the other named 
local authorities on the Waste Management Levy Allocation Methodology Agreement 
(LAMA)), has a statutory duty to collect waste and deliver it to GMCA, which in turn 
has a statutory duty to dispose of waste.

The LAMA supports delivery of the GMCA waste management strategy to maximise 
environmental and financial benefits. The current legislation, contained in the Joint 
Waste Disposal Authorities (Levies) (England) Regulations 2006, establishes the 
power to issue levies against the Waste Collection Authorities which are part of the 
arrangement where the GMCA fails to meet its statutory responsibilities. 

The report sets out the revised terms to reflect the new payment methodology, and 
appears to be agreed across the treasurers of the constituent councils, with the 
reasons for the revision being set out at section 2 of the report. The LAMA also sets 
out the GMCA acknowledges the Council’s best value duty and will assist in 
discharging that duty in looking to continuously improve delivery in their waste 
collection services.

The commencement date for the new agreement is 1st April 2020, and it is due to 
expire (subject to any prior termination by agreement of all the constituent councils 
and the GMCA) on 31st March 2029. Legal Services will assist in the execution of the 
inter-authority agreement upon receipt of instructions.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Joanne Hardman

As outlined within the report GM Treasurers have received an update on the impact 
of the proposed changes to the LAMA.  This indicates that the council’s % share of 
levy costs should not be impacted by the proposed changes.

The proposed changes should provide greater clarity in terms of the charges to be 
made to districts by way of an earlier confirmation of levy charges on an annual basis 
and a fixed charge for variations in tonnages which will allow better in-year 
forecasting.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: None 

Page 8



5

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: None 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: Service Reform Finance services

CONTACT OFFICER: David Seager TEL NO: 0161 925 1115

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: ALL

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

WASTE MANAGEMENT LEVY 
ALLOCATION METHODOLOGY 

AGREEMENT (LAMA) 

 
 
 
 

DATED         2019 

 

 

(1) Greater Manchester Combined Authority 

 

(2) Bolton Borough Council 

 

(3) Bury Metropolitan Borough Council 

 

(4) The Council of the City of Manchester 

 

(5) Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council 

 

(6) Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council 

 

(7) Salford City Council 

 

(8) Stockport Metropolitan Borough Council 

 

(9) Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council 

 

(10) Trafford Borough Council 

 

 

  

Page 11



- 2 - 

 

CONTENTS 

1. DEFINITIONS ................................................................................................ 5 

2. COMMENCEMENT AND DURATION ............................................................ 9 

3. PARTNERING ETHOS ................................................................................ 10 

4. PRINCIPAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE GMCA ............................................... 10 

5. PRINCIPAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE WCAs ................................................ 11 

6. WCAs’ BEST VALUE DUTY ........................................................................ 12 

7. CHANGE TO THE OPERATING CONTRACTS ........................................... 12 

8. EXIT AND ENTRY ARRANGEMENTS ........................................................ 13 

9. NO WORSE/NO BETTER ............................................................................ 13 

10. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ................................................................... 14 

11. PRIVITY ....................................................................................................... 14 

12. NO AGENCY ............................................................................................... 14 

13. NO PARTNERSHIP ..................................................................................... 14 

14. ENTIRE AGREEMENT ................................................................................ 14 

15. LAW OF THE CONTRACT AND JURISDICTION ........................................ 15 

 
  

 

 

Schedules 

 

 

1. Levy Allocation to WCA Mechanism Error! 
Bookmark 

not 
defined. 

2. Change Control Procedures Error! 
Bookmark 

not 
defined. 

 

Page 12



- 3 - 

THIS LEVY ALLOCATION METHODOLOGY AGREEMENT (LAMA) is made on 
the 

  

                                                   2019 

 

BETWEEN 

 

(1) Greater Manchester Combined Authority of 1st Floor, Churchgate House, 56 
Oxford Street, Manchester, M1 6EU (“the GMCA”); 

 

(2) Bolton Borough Council of Town Hall, Victoria Square, Bolton, BL1 1RU; 

 

(3) Bury Metropolitan Borough Council of Town Hall, Knowsley Street, Bury, BL9 
0SW; 

 

(4) The Council of the City of Manchester, PO Box 532, of Town Hall, Albert 
Square, Manchester,  M60 2LA; 

 

(5) Oldham Borough Council of Civic Centre, West Street, Oldham, OL1 1UG; 

 

(6) Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council of Rochdale OL16 1LQ Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU 

 

(7) Salford City Council of Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, Salford, M27 
5DA; 

 

(8) Stockport Metropolitan Borough Council of Town Hall, Edward Street, 
Stockport, SK1 3XE 

 

(9) Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council of Tameside One, PO Box 317, 
Ashton-under-Lyne, OL6 0GS 

 

(10) Trafford Borough Council of Trafford Town Hall, Talbot Road, Stretford, 
Manchester, M32 0TH; 

 

EACH (other than the GMCA) being a Waste Collection Authority and which are (other 
than the GMCA) collectively referred to as “the WCAs”. 

 

Page 13



- 4 - 

RECITALS 

 

(A) The GMCA is a Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) and has a statutory duty to 
dispose of waste.                                                     

 

(B) The WCAs have a statutory duty to collect waste and deliver it to the GMCA. 

 

(C) The LAMA is designed to support delivery of the GMCA’s Waste Management 
Strategy, and to promote recycling and diversion from landfill in a way that 
maximises financial and environmental benefits.  Policy on waste management 
is currently being reviewed at a national level, and as such whilst the LAMA is 
intended to reflect an expected increase in the levels of recycling performance 
and diversion from landfill that will be required, it will need to be reviewed over 
its term to ensure it reflects final policy decisions. 

 

(D) The Joint Waste Disposal Authorities (Levies) (England) Regulations 2006 
established the GMCA’s power to issue levies on its constituent councils (the 
WCAs) to meet all liabilities falling to be discharged by the GMCA. 

 

(E) The GMCA has entered into Operating Contracts for the disposal of residual 
waste and treatment of recyclates, pulpables and green waste (amongst other 
things).  The WCAs have agreed, subject to the terms of this LAMA, to support 
the GMCA in fulfilling its responsibilities under these arrangements, which 
includes a commitment to deliver recyclable material to the Operating 
Contracts. 

 

(F) For the first 6 years of the LAMA the GMCA is managing contracts which 
cover: - 

 Lot 1 – known as the “Waste and Resource Management 
Services” (WRMS).  

 Lot 2 – known as the “Household Waste Recycling Centre 
Management Services” (HWRCMS); and the 

 Residual Value Contract (RVC). 
 

 

  

Page 14



- 5 - 

1. DEFINITIONS 
 

1.1 In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires terms with an initial 
capital shall have the meanings set out below. 

 

  

“Administrative Area” The administrative area(s) of the Parties at the date of 
this Agreement 

“Agreement” This agreement and the Schedules hereto   

“Best Value” The obligation continuously to improve both the quality 
and cost of the collection of Residual Waste and 
Recycling pursuant to the provision of the Local 
Government Act 1999 

“Best Value Duty” The duty of continuous improvement in relation to, inter 
alia, the collection of Residual Waste and Recycling 
imposed on WCAs by Section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 1999 

“Bulky Waste” WCA collected waste that by its nature will not fit in the 
usual residual waste receptacles (such as large items of 
furniture etc.), often referred to as Bulky Waste 

“Change” Any change agreed in accordance with clauses 6 (WCA 
Best Value) or 7 (Change) and Error! Reference source 
not found.Schedule 2 (Change Control Procedures) 

“Change in Law” The coming into effect, after the date of this Agreement, 
of:- 

(a) Legislation, other than any Legislation which on the 
date of this Agreement has been published 

(i) in a draft Bill as part of a Government 
Departmental Consultation Paper; 

(ii) in a Bill; 

(iii) in a draft statutory instrument;  

(iv) as a proposal in the official Journal of the 
European Union; 

(b) any Guidance; or 

(c) any applicable judgement of a relevant court of law 
which establishes or changes a binding precedent 

“Commencement Date” 1st April 2020  

“Commingled Waste” Dry recycling that is usually collected as mixed materials 
by WCAs; initially comprising cans, plastic bottles, and 
glass 

“Delivery Points” 

 

 

The delivery points for waste to be deposited by type to 
be agreed by the WCAs on an annual basis or such other 
delivery points as the Parties shall agree. 

Page 15



- 6 - 

“Exceptional 
Circumstances” 

A decision to be made by the GMCA Treasurer to 
exercise his/her discretion in circumstances that are 
outside the direct decision making control of the WCAs 
under which Recycling Minimum Performance Level is 
triggered.   
 
The following issues are agreed as constituting the initial 
list of exceptional circumstances: - 
 

1. Waste Reduction – If waste is taken out of the 
system, (for example pushed up the waste 
hierarchy and therefore doesn’t need collecting), 
an adjustment in the calculation of what triggers 
the 1% will need to be made. In considering the 
actions that have led to the waste reduction, 
investment in waste reduction initiatives will be 
recognised as a mitigating factor. 

2. Carve out for national changes e.g. UK Waste and 
Resources Strategy and any change impact for 
which a baseline recalculation for all is needed  

3. The impact of unplanned disruption to service  
 
In these Exceptional Circumstances the GMCA 
Treasurer, after full consultation with the Chair of the 
Waste Chief Officers Group (SOG), shall apply a tonnage 
adjustment rate that is at the LAM Variable costs, rather 
than also applying the fixed cost rate 
 

“Expiry Date” Subject to any earlier termination of this Agreement the 
expiry date shall be 31st March 2029, and “Expiry” shall 
be construed accordingly 

“Facility” Each and any facility for the reception of Waste from 
WCAs including the Delivery Points provided and/or 
operated or to be provided under the Operating Contracts 
with all supporting infrastructure and equipment 

“GMCA” Greater Manchester Combined Authority  

“HWRC” Household Waste Recycling Centre 

“LAM fixed costs” The LAM model costs which are not expected to vary by 
volumes of tonnages processed, and are by definition 
mostly fixed by their nature eg NNDR, pensions, lifecycle 
costs, RVC contract costs, fixed cost elements of the 
Operating Contracts. 

“LAM variable costs” The LAM model costs which are broadly expected to vary 
by volumes of tonnages processed.   

“Legislation” 

 

 

 

Any Act of Parliament or subordinate legislation within the 
meaning of Section 21(1) of the Interpretation Act 1978, 
any exercise of the Royal Prerogative, and any 
enforceable community right within the meaning of 
Section 2 of the European Communities Act 1972, in 
each case in the United Kingdom 

Page 16



- 7 - 

“Levy” The charge to the WCAs in accordance with Schedule 1 

“Levy Allocation Model 
(LAM)” 

A financial model that is used to allocate cost between 
fixed, variable and GMCA own costs as set out Schedule 
1 

“Levy Requirement” The annual budget requirement, less any contributions for 
reserves, that the GMCA needs to raise from WCAs by 
the Levy to produce a balanced budget. 

“Operating Contracts” Two operating contracts let 1st June 2019 comprising: - 

 Lot 1 – known as the “Waste and Resource 
Management Services” (WRMS).  

 Lot 2 – known as the “Household Waste 
Recycling Centre management services” 
(HWRCMS).  
 

“Parties” The GMCA and the WCAs, and “Party” shall mean any of 
them 

“Partnering Ethos” The aspirational aims set out at clause 3.2 

“Performance Deductions” As defined in the Operating Contracts 

“Performance Standards” The criteria set out in the  Operating Contracts as agreed 
or amended from time-to-time  

“Planned Maintenance” Planned maintenance by Operating Contractors at any of 
the Delivery Points 

“Recyclable Materials” Any materials collected separately or otherwise separated 
from Residual Waste for the purposes of Recycling (and 
including materials collected and delivered commingled), 
including the materials listed below: 

(a) paper and cardboard; 

(b) plastics; 

(c) ferrous and non-ferrous metals; 

 (d) glass; 

 (e) organic kitchen and garden waste; and 

(f)       street sweepings (if delivered and treated 
separately) 

or such other materials as shall be agreed in writing 
between the Parties from time-to-time 

“Recycle” The delivery of Recyclable Materials for reprocessing (as 
evidenced by a defined audit trail) but excluding energy 
recovery or beneficial use for inclusion in a reprocessing 
process, and the terms “Recycling” and “Recycled” shall 
be interpreted accordingly 

“Recyclate Performance 
Adjustment” 

The adjustment that is carried out if performance falls 
below the Recyclate Minimum Performance level. 
 
The adjustment applied is calculated as: - 
 

Page 17



- 8 - 

a) expected total Recycling tonnes arisings as 
per 2017/18 actuals (total Recycling 
(calculated as dc+dp+dg+ds) less 1%) 

 
minus  
 

b) actual total Recycling tonnes arisings in year 
 
equals  

 
c) additional tonnes of waste to be charged  

 
Total extra charge (additional sum) to be calculated by:- 
 

i. additional tonnes of waste (from c. above),  
 
multiplied by 
 

ii. LAMA Fixed Costs per tonne for Residual 
Waste  

 

“Recyclate Base 
Performance level (RBP)” 

This is the actual level of recycling achieved in 2017/18 at 
an individual WCA level expressed as a percentage of 
total waste arisings less trade waste, as set out in the 
formula below: - 

     WCA RBP = dg+dc+dp+ds 

                                dw-dt 

where; 

dg = WCA food and garden waste tonnes 

dc = WCA commingled recycling tonnes 

dp = WCA pulpables tonnes 

ds = WCA street sweepings tonnes (delivered and treated 
separately) 

dw = WCA total waste arisings tonnes 

dt = WCA trade waste 

“Recyclate Minimum 
Performance level” 

This is the level by which recycling levels can reduce, 
below which the Recyclate Performance Adjustment is 
applied. 

It is expressed as shown in the formula below: 

    RBP – 1%  

“Residual Waste” All Waste delivered to the GMCA that is not Recyclable 
Material, or Trade Waste 

“RVC” The Residual Value Contract entered into by the GMCA 
and Thermal Power Station (Runcorn) Limited (TPSCo) 
for the end disposal in a combined heat and power plant 
by thermal means of the refuse derived fuel produced 
from residual waste. 

Page 18



- 9 - 

“Service Delivery Plans” 

 

 

The plans in the Operating Contracts which set out how 
the Residual Waste and Recycling services and certain of 
the standards to which the services must be performed in 
respect of the relevant Facilities 

SOG Waste Chief Officers Group composed of GMCA Waste 
and Resources team officers and WCA Waste Chief 
Officers, chaired by a WCA representative. 

“Trade Waste” Waste of similar composition to Residual Waste which is 
collected from commercial and office premises for or by 
the WCAs and is treated in accordance with Schedule 1, 
para. 6 

“Unavailable/Un- 
availability” 
 
 

That a Delivery Point is for a period of time or 
permanently unavailable for the reception of Residual 
Waste and Recycling, as further defined in the Operating 
Contracts 

“Waste” The types of waste described in WCA Forecast to be 
delivered by the WCAs to the GMCA pursuant to this 
Agreement and other provisions relating thereto 

“WCA Forecast” The forecast, made by each WCA, of all Waste arising, 
for a five year forward period that takes account of 
expected increase in housing and population. WCA 
Forecasts shall be updated annually as follows: 

   

 Each WCA will prepare at least two forecasts 
annually, which will be subject to scrutiny by the 
GMCA.  Those forecasts will be required each 
year in: - 

 Mid-September – to complement the initial budget 
forecast and inform the initial allocation of levy at 
WCA level; and 

 Early November – which will be used as the basis 
of setting the annual Levy at a WCA level 

The GMCA Treasurer and Executive Director, Waste & 
Resources will notify final dates in August each year, after 
consulting with the SOG. 

“WCA Operations” 

 

The methods of operation from time-to-time of each WCA 
in collecting and delivering its Waste to Delivery Points 

“WDA” The Greater Manchester Combined Authority in its 
statutory capacity as a Waste Disposal Authority. 

 

2. COMMENCEMENT AND DURATION 
 

This Agreement will commence on the Commencement Date and continue in 
full force and effect until the earlier of:- 
 
2.1 the Expiry Date; or 
 

Page 19



- 10 - 

2.2 earlier if all of the WCAs and the GMCA agree to amend or terminate 
this Agreement.     

                                                  

3. PARTNERING ETHOS 
 

3.1 The Parties will work in good faith and in accordance with the Partnering 
Ethos.  

 

3.2 Partnering Ethos shall mean that each party shall:- 

 

 3.2.1 act reasonably and co-operatively with the other Parties; 

 

3.2.2 provide information to each other which they consider (acting 
reasonably) to be relevant relating to waste collection and waste 
disposal; 

 

3.2.3 use reasonable endeavours to mitigate any losses arising from 
a Party’s failure under this Agreement and to reduce the 
detrimental impact on the other Parties (or the council tax payers 
of any one of them) of any failure to carry out its obligations 
under this Agreement; 

 

3.2.4 use reasonable endeavours working together and in co-
operation with the Operating Contractors, to minimise waste, to 
educate the public and the commercial sector about recycling 
schemes and why their participation in these schemes is crucial, 
and to ensure that as much Waste as possible is (in order of 
priority) reduced, re-used, recycled or recovered; and 

 

3.2.5 without prejudice to the express rights, remedies and obligations 
of the WCAs under this Agreement and Legislation the WCAs 
shall (using reasonable endeavours) not knowingly do anything 
under their reasonable control which would put the GMCA in 
material breach of the Operating Contracts. 

 

4. PRINCIPAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE GMCA 
 

4.1 The GMCA will discharge its statutory duties and contractual obligations 
to the WCAs (to receive and dispose of Waste at the Delivery Points) 
through the Operating Contracts referred to in the Recitals. 

 

4.2 The GMCA will apportion the costs incurred in relation to these 
obligations pursuant to Schedule 1 (Levy Allocation to WCAs 
Methodology). 

 

Page 20



- 11 - 

4.3 Where an act or omission of the GMCA or any relevant Contractor of 
the GMCA, including a failure of the Operating Contractors to achieve 
any of the Performance Standards, causes any loss to one or more 
WCAs, the GMCA will use its best endeavours to pursue any 
appropriate remedies available to it including the recovery of 
Performance Deductions under the Operating Contracts referred to in 
the Recitals and pay such monies to the affected WCA.  Where more 
than one WCA has suffered the same performance failure the payment 
of any compensation or the Performance Deduction shall be shared 
between the affected WCAs pro-rata based upon the amount of losses 
incurred by each WCA arising out of the performance failure.  The 
payment shall be made to WCAs by the GMCA through the LAMA as 
part of the year end adjustment. 

 

4.4 Any money compensation obtained or payable by the GMCA pursuant 
to clause 4.3 will be returned to the WCAs in appropriate proportions 
through the LAM. 

 

4.5 Subject to clauses 4.7 the GMCA will use its reasonable endeavours to 
notify a WCA of any changes within the Operating Contracts set out in 
the Recitals which might be of relevance to it or affect its obligations 
flowing from that contract or this Agreement. 

 

4.6 The GMCA shall use its reasonable endeavours to ensure that the 
Operating Contractors achieve the Performance Standards and shall 
ensure that each WCA is made aware of the Performance Standards 
and of the current Service Delivery Plans and, where relevant, is 
consulted about them. 

 

4.7 The GMCA has agreed the basis for the contractual arrangements with 
the Operating Contractors and the WCAs and shall use its best 
endeavours to ensure that any material change to the Operating 
Contracts shall be agreed with the WCAs in advance and shall use its 
best endeavours to mitigate any impact on the WCAs. 

 

5. PRINCIPAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE WCAs 
 

5.1   

 

5.1 Without prejudice to clauses 6 (WCA Best Value) and 7 (Change to the 
VC and the Replacement Operating Contracts), each WCA will deliver 
or cause to be delivered to the Delivery Points for that WCA all Waste 
as agreed in advance with GMCA. 

 

5.2 If any act or omission of a WCA causes loss to the GMCA (including, 
without limitation, through entitling the Operating Contractors of the 
GMCA to increase its charges or seek any other remedy from the 
GMCA) or to any other WCA, then that WCA will bear the cost of the 

Page 21



- 12 - 

relevant losses, so that they do not fall equally, through the LAM, on 
those WCAs which were not at fault. 

 

5.3 The WCAs will pay the GMCA for the waste disposal services it 
provides to the WCAs pursuant to the Levy Regulations as defined in 
Schedule 1 in accordance with the principles set out in Schedule 1(Levy 
Allocation to WCAs Methodology). 

 

5.4 Each WCA shall, in preparing the WCA Forecast for its Administrative 
Area, take account of the impact of population and housing growth on 
waste arisings and composition. The GMCA will act as a ‘critical friend’ 
to challenge the WCA Forecasts produced, and seek explanations that 
it deems appropriate.  Comments by the GMCA will be given due 
consideration by the WCA and if no changes are proposed the WCA 
will be required to supply a written explanation of why changes have not 
been made to the WCA Forecast. The WCA Forecast shall be provided 
annually and will cover a 5-year rolling period, or other shorter period 
as the GMCA deems appropriate.  

 

5.5 Nothing contained in this Agreement and no consent or approval given 
by any party to this Agreement shall prejudice, restrict, interfere with or 
otherwise affect, any of the statutory or other rights powers or 
obligations and duties for the time being vested in that party, or the 
performance by that party of any such obligations or duties, or the 
means by which that party shall, in its absolute discretion, exercise its 
respective rights or powers, or fulfil or discharge any such obligations 
or duties.  

 

6. WCAs’ BEST VALUE DUTY 
 

6.1 The GMCA acknowledges that WCAs are subject to the Best Value 
Duty and it agrees to assist WCAs in discharging the Best Value Duty 
in relation to the continuous improvement in the delivery of their waste 
collection services. 

 

6.2 The GMCA shall comply with requests for information, data or other 
assistance made by WCAs in pursuance of the Best Value Duty. 

 

 

7. CHANGE TO THE OPERATING CONTRACTS 
 

7.1 WCAs may request a change to the Operating Contracts in accordance 
with the provisions of Schedule 2 (Change Control Procedures). 

 

Page 22



- 13 - 

8. EXIT AND ENTRY ARRANGEMENTS 
  

8.1 Expiry and Termination 

 

8.1.1 Not before 1st April 2025 the Parties shall meet to discuss and, 
all acting reasonably and in good faith, determine the 
arrangements for the disposal of waste after the expiry of the 
Replacement Operating Contracts.                 

 

8.2 New Entrant 

 

8.2.1 If at any time during the term of this Agreement, any third party 
wishes to utilise any part of the Operating Contracts, the Parties 
will meet to discuss and, acting reasonably and in good faith, 
determine whether agreement should be given to that third party 
utilising the Operating Contracts and, if so, the terms of that 
agreement with the intention that the WCAs are in no worse 
position as a result of the third party’s use, and that such third 
party is not put in any better position than the WCAs. 

 

9. NO WORSE/NO BETTER 
 

9.1 Any reference in clause 8 to leaving the WCAs in a “no worse position” 
shall be construed by reference to the WCAs:- 

 

9.1.1 rights, duties and liabilities under or arising pursuant to 
performance of this Agreement; and 

 

9.1.2 their ability to perform their obligations and exercise their rights 
under this Agreement, so as to ensure that: 

 

9.1.3 each WCA is left in a position which is no worse in relation to its 
financial position under this Agreement and its operating 
methods for the collection and delivery of Waste had the third 
party not utilised the  Operating Contracts;  and 

 

9.1.4 the ability of the WCAs to comply with this Agreement is not 
adversely affected as a consequence of that utilisation. 

 

9.2 Any reference in clause 8 to putting the third party in “any better position 
than the WCAs” shall be construed by reference to the WCAs’ rights 
and financial position under this Agreement. 

 

Page 23



- 14 - 

10. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 
 

10.1 Each Party acknowledges that each of the other Parties is subject to 
the requirements of the Freedom of Information Act 2000, the 
Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and the General Data 
Protection Regulation Data Protection Act 2018 and shall assist and co-
operate with the other Parties to comply with these information 
disclosure requirements. 

 

11. PRIVITY 
 

11.1 No term of this Agreement is enforceable under the Contracts (Rights 
of Third Parties) Act 1999 by a person who is not a party to this 
Agreement. 

 

12. NO AGENCY 
 

12.1 None of the parties shall hold itself out as being the servant or agent of 
any other Party, otherwise than in circumstances expressly permitted 
by this Agreement. 

 

12.2 None of the parties shall hold itself out as being authorised to enter into 
any contract on behalf of any other Party or in any other way to bind 
any other Party to the performance, variation, release or discharge of 
any obligation. 

 

12.3 No WCA shall in any circumstances hold itself out as having the power 
to make, vary, discharge or waive any bye-law or any regulation of any 
kind relating to the disposal of Waste. 

 

13. NO PARTNERSHIP 
 

13.1 Nothing in this Agreement is intended to, or shall operate to create, a 
partnership as defined by the Partnership Act 1890 or joint venture of 
any kind between the Parties or any of them, or to authorise any Party 
to act as agent for any other, and no Party shall have the GMCA to act 
in the name or on behalf of or otherwise to bind any other in any way 
(including but not limited to the making of any representation or 
warranty, the assumption of any obligation or liability and the exercise 
of any right or power). 

 

14. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 
 

14.1 Except where expressly provided in this Agreement, this Agreement 
constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties in connection with 
its subject matter and supersedes all prior representations, 

Page 24



- 15 - 

communications, negotiations and understandings concerning the 
subject matter of this Agreement. 

 

14.2 Each of the Parties acknowledges that:- 

 

14.2.1 it does not enter into this Agreement on the basis of and 
does not rely, and has never relied, upon any statement or 
representation (whether negligent or innocent) or warranty 
or other provision (in any case whether oral, written, express 
or implied) made and agreed to by any person (whether a 
party to this Agreement or not) except those expressly 
repeated or referred to in this Agreement and the only 
remedy or remedies available in respect of any 
misrepresentation or untrue statement made to it shall be 
any remedy available under this Agreement;  and 

 

14.2.2 this clause 14 shall not apply to any statement, 
representation or warranty made fraudulently, or to any 
provision of this Agreement which was induced by fraud, for 
which the remedies available shall be all those available 
under the law governing this Agreement. 

 

15. LAW OF THE CONTRACT AND JURISDICTION 
 

15.1 This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of England and Wales 
and the Parties submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of 
England and Wales. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 25



- 16 - 

Schedule 1 
LEVY ALLOCATION METHODOLOGY  

 

1. Payment by the WCAs to the GMCA for the waste disposal services received, 
and apportionment of the Levy under the Joint Waste Disposal Authorities 
(Levies) (England) Regulations 2006 (“the Levy Regulations”) will be 
established in accordance with the principles set out in this Schedule 1.  
Therefore, the levy allocation mechanism set out in this Schedule represents 
an agreed basis for apportioning the Levy under Regulation 4 (1) (a) of the Levy 
Regulations. 

 

2. Under the Operating Contracts the GMCA waste costs comprise: 

a) A Fixed Cost element; 

b) A Variable Cost element.  The variable element is directly linked 
to the expected tonnages processed via the Facilities, as set out 
in the WCA Forecast; and 

c) The GMCA’s own direct costs. 

 

Collectively these costs will be used to determine annual budget requirements, 
which after application of any reserves, generates a Levy Requirement. 

 

3. The following table sets out the key design characteristics, and reasons for their 
inclusion used in apportioning the Levy.   

 

 Key design characteristics Reasons for their inclusion 

 A. WCA Collected Waste   

  

 1. Retain a waste stream approach, based 

upon:- 

i. Commingled 

ii. Pulpables; 

iii. Organics (Food and Garden); 

iv. Trade Waste: 

v. Residual Waste; and 

vi. Street Sweepings (if delivered and 

treated separately) 

 
2.  Allocate costs on the basis of a Levy 

Apportionment Model (LAM) which 
comprises:- 

 

 

 

Reflects current WCA collection 

working practices and ensures 

costs/environmental benefits from 

improvements are retained. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



- 17 - 

i. LAM Fixed Costs element. These will 

be allocated to WCAs based on 

adjusted1 2017/18 actual tonnages, and 

will be reviewed and reset for the 

2022/23 financial year or other such 

year as may be agreed unanimously 

between the parties. 

ii. LAM Variable Costs  Allocated to 

WCAs based on forecast tonnages for 

the year 

 
3. For WCAs whose recycling falls below the 

Recycling Minimum Performance Level 
(RBP -1%) they will be required to make an 
additional levy contribution calculated by: 

 
i. expected total Recycling tonnes 

arisings as per 2017/18 actuals (total 
Recycling calculated as dc+dp+dg+ds) 

ii. less 1% 
iii. minus actual total Recycling tonnes 

arisings in year 
iv. equals additional tonnes of waste to be 

charged  
v. cost allocation additional sum is 

additional tonnes of waste multiplied by 
LAM Fixed Costs per tonne for 
Residual Waste  

 
 
4. Common assumptions to be used in tonnage 

estimates, as per schedule 1. 

Ensures that one WCA can’t 
adversely impact others by reducing 
its recycling performance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In case of Exceptional Circumstances 
this additional levy contribution can be 
over-ridden by the GMCA Treasurer. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ensures that all future year increases 
are based upon common factors and 
also ensure re-procurement 
facilities/capacity are correctly sized. 

  

 B. Household Waste Recycling Centres  

  
Cost allocation to be based upon: 
 

i. 50% Council Tax Base (Band D 

equivalent) from prior year 

ii. 50% Car Ownership (2011 Office of 

National Statistics census)  

 

 
Cost allocation factors to be reviewed 
and amended, as needed, for future 
years LAM. 

  

                                                
1 An adjustment may be made to Salford City and Trafford Council figures (only) to reflect the 
part year impact of reduced waste capacity roll out and potential impact of charging for 
Garden Waste (respectively). The basis for the adjustments will be documented and shared 
with all WCAs and be used as a possible precedent for future changes (e.g. the adoption by 
another WCA of green waste charging) 

Page 27



- 18 - 

 C:  GMCA Own costs– including direct costs (such as salaries/running costs and legacy 
financing costs)  

  

 Equal share to each WCA Costs don’t vary much by activity, and 
are thus linked to an 11.1% each 
WCA allocation basis. 

  

 
4. As soon as practical after the year end an adjustment will be determined by the 

GMCA to vary WCA Levy allocations to reflect variations actual tonnages 
delivered (compared to WCA Forecasts).   

 
5. As part of the annual budget and levy process the GMCA will determine and 

publish the LAM Variable Cost rates which will be made available to the WCA 
Treasurers.  Given the commercial sensitivity of that information it will not be 
published in an open format, but will be part of the closed budget and levy 
report, which will be provided on or before the Statutory latest Levy fixing date 
of 15th February prior to the commencement of each financial year.  The LAM 
Variable Cost may include sums for recovery of any shortfall between levied 
variable costs and actual variable cost for the prior year. 
 

6. For the WCA declarations for Trade Waste (offices, shops, traders etc.) the 
GMCA will set an annual rate per tonne in accordance with the 2013/14 rate 
inflated in accordance with the RPIx.  An adjustment to the Trade Waste 
element of the Levy will be carried out as part of the financial year end 
reconciliation process and any difference between actual WCA tonnages and 
WCA Forecasts will be made at the pre-agreed per tonne rate.   

 
7. A review of the basis for Trade Waste will be carried out in each year of the 

term of the LAMA.  WCAs accept that if growth in residual waste exceeds the 
capacity in the facilities, alternative delivery points may need to be found for 
trade waste including outside the Operating Contracts. 

 
 
   
 
 
 
  

Page 28



- 19 - 

Schedule 2 
Change Control Procedures 

 

A. Change to the Operating Contracts and WCA Operations from the operations 
set out in the agreed Service Delivery Plan will be governed by the procedures 
set out in this Schedule 2 

 

 1. Principles 

 

1.1 Where a WCA sees a need for a change to the services 
provided under the Operating Contracts affecting a WCA then a 
WCA may at any time request a change in accordance with the 
procedure set out in paragraph 2 below. 

 

1.2 The GMCA shall not unreasonably withhold its agreement to 
any change. 

 

1.3 The obligations of the Parties shall not be effected until a 
Change Control Note has been signed by the relevant WCA and 
sent to the GMCA. 

 

2. Procedure 

 

2.1 The WCA and the GMCA shall discuss changes proposed by 
the WCA and such discussion shall result in: 

 

 2.1.1 a decision not to proceed further; or 

 

 2.1.2 a written request for a change by the WCA. 

 

2.2 Each Change Control Note shall contain details of the change 
including, where applicable: 

 

 2.2.1 the title of the change; 

 

2.2.2 the originator and the date of the request or 
recommendation for the change; 

 

2.2.3 the reason for the change; 

 

2.2.4 full details of the change including any specifications; 

 

Page 29



- 20 - 

2.2.5 a timetable for implementation, together with any 
proposals for acceptance of the change; 

 

2.2.6 the impact, if any, of the change on other aspects of the 
Operating Contracts; 

 

2.2.7 the date of expiry of validity of the Change Control Note; 
and 

 

2.2.8 provision for signature by the WCA/GMCA if the change 
is agreed. 

 

2.3 For each Change Control Note submitted to the GMCA, the 
GMCA shall, within twenty  working days from receipt  of the 
Change Control Note, evaluate the Change Control Note and 
notify the relevant WCA whether the GMCA (acting reasonably) 
agrees to the change. 

 

2.4 A Change Control Note signed by both Parties shall constitute 
a variation to this Agreement. 

 

B. Amendment to the Agreement 

 

 No amendment to or modification of this Agreement (other than an amendment 
under paragraph A of this Schedule) shall be valid or binding on any Party 
unless it is made in writing, refers expressly to this Agreement and is 
unanimously agreed by all of the Parties. 

 

Page 30


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 GM Waste Levy Allocation Methodology Agreement (LAMA)
	LAMA November 2019


